Ohio District of Kiwanis International Policy Manual

Ohio District of Kiwanis International PO BOX 588 Berea, OH 44017 (614) 848-5000

This version of the District Policy Manual represents the most current version in print. The District Board of Directors approved this Revised Version on December 6th, 2025. All previous editions are obsolete and should be discarded.

Table of Contents	
INTRODUCTION	5
ARTICLE I: COMMITTEES	6
ARTICLE II: CLUB SUPPORT COMMITTEES	7
ARTICLE III: DISTRICT SUPPORT COMMITTEES	9
ARTICLE IV: SPECIAL COMMITTEES	13
ARTICLE V: FINANCE POLICY	14
Section V.1: ANNUAL BUDGET	14
Section V.2: RECEIPT OF FUNDS	18
Section V.3: PAYMENT OF ACCOUNTS	18
Section V.4: INVESTMENT POLICY	20
Section V.5: NET ASSETS OF THE OHIO DISTRICT	2 4
ARTICLE VI: PROTOCOL	29
A. HOSTING INTERNATIONAL AND DISTRICT OFFICERS	29
B. INTERNATIONAL AND DISTRICT ELECTIONS PROCEDURES	31
C. ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGES AND GAMBLING	35
D. KIWANIS NAME, EMBLEM, INSIGNIA	36
E. SOLICITING FOR FUNDS	36
F. PRIVACY OF DISTRICT INFORMATION	36
G. OPENING A NEW CLUB OUTSIDE THE DIVISION BOUNDARIES	37
H. PRESENTING INFORMATION TO THE FINANCE AND STRUCTURI	E
COMMITTEE AND/OR DISTRICT BOARD	37
I. DOCUMENT RETENTION AND DESTRUCTION	37
J. PROTECTION OF WHISTLEBLOWERS	38
ARTICLE VII: DISTRICT NEWSLETTER	39
ARTICLE VIII: REPORTING CLUB ACTIVITIES AND PROJECTS	40
ARTICLE IX: DUES AND SPONSORSHIP FEES	41
A. KIWANIS CLUB DUES	41
B. CIRCLE K DUES	41
C. KEY CLUB DUES	41
D. BUILDERS CLUB DUES	42
E. K-KIDS CLUB DUES	42
F. AKTION CLUB DUES	42
ARTICLE X: KIWANIS MEMBERS WORKING WITH SERVICE LEADERSH	HIP
PROGRAM PARTICIPANTS AND OTHER YOUTH ACTIVITIES	43
Article XI: CRIMINAL HISTORY BACKGROUND CHECKS	45
ARTICLE XII: EVENTS	46
ARTICLE XIII. CONFLICT OF INTEREST	46
ARTICLE XIV: DISTRICT AWARDS	48

ARTICLE XV: DIVISION NAMES	50
ARTICLE XVI: CHANGES TO POLICY MANUAL	50

INTRODUCTION

This Policy Manual establishes the guidelines and procedures for the operation of the Ohio District of Kiwanis International. In case of conflict, the Bylaws of Kiwanis International and the Bylaws of the Ohio District supersede the provisions of the guidelines and procedures of this policy manual. Any changes must be approved as presented in Article XV, Changes to Policy Manual.

ARTICLE I: COMMITTEES

Section 1. The District committee structure includes three classifications of committees: Club Support, District Support, and Special. The Club Support and District Support Committees are standing committees.

CI	ub	S	un	no	rt

- **a.** Aktion Club
- **b.** Builders Club
- c. Circle K Club
- **d.** Human & Spiritual Values (IDEA

Committee)

- e. Inter-Club and Fellowship
- **f.** International Foundation
- g. Key Club
- **h.** Key Leader
- i. Kiwanis Kids (K-Kids)
- j. Public Relations & Marketing
- k. Membership
- i. Risk Management
- **m.** Service

District Support

- a. Budget Planning
- **b.** Bylaws, Policies & Resolutions
- c. Club Education and Leadership

Development

- **d.** District Convention
- **e.** Executive
- **f.** Finance and Structure
- g. International Convention
- **h.** Mid-Year Education Day
- i. Past District Governors
- **j.** Past District Treasures
- k. Past Lieutenant Governors

Section 2. Each club support committee cooperates with the appropriate committee of Kiwanis International and promotes the programs suggested by the International Committee to the clubs of the District.

Section 3. All District Committees are responsible to the Governor or the Board of Directors and provide reports as requested. The Governor defines the work of the committees to give direct and effective leadership to further the goals and objectives for the Administrative Year. The Governor may name additional committees under the provisions of Article IV on Special Committees.

Section 4. In making appointments to District Chair and Administrator positions, consideration should be given to creating opportunities for newly interested appointees and to creating a mixture of experienced and inexperienced District Chairs and Administrators. Generally, District Chairs and Administrators should not be reappointed to the same district position for more than five (5) consecutive years.

Section 5. Unless otherwise stated in this Policy Manual, the Governor-Elect will appoint all District Committee Chairs prior to August 1.

Section 6. The term of office for all committees begins October 1, unless otherwise stated.

ARTICLE II: CLUB SUPPORT COMMITTEES

Section 1. Composition of Club Support Committees

- **a.** Each of the Club Support Committees consists of: the District Chair and a member appointed from each division who is known as a Division Chair, or a member appointed from each of no less than six (6) regions who are known as Regional Chairs.
- b. The Lieutenant Governor-Elect is responsible for making appointments of Division Chairs.
- c. The Governor-Elect is responsible for appointing Regional Chairs, if used.

Section 2. General responsibilities of club support committees.

- **a.** The District Chair will provide each Regional or Division Chair with a description of the responsibilities and functions of the committee as recommended by Kiwanis International. The Chair will also provide suggestions or special plans for the committee to support the goals and objectives of the District for the administrative year. The Regional or Division Chair is the communication link to transmit the District plans, goals, and objectives to each club chair in the Region or Division.
- **b.** Copies of all correspondence from the District, Regional, and Division Chairs will be forwarded to the Lieutenant Governor.
- **c.** The Lieutenant Governor will give the names and addresses of the Club Chairs appropriate to the Chair's area of responsibility to each Regional or Division Chair before October 15.

Section 3. The following applies to Service Leadership Programs (SLP)

The SLP Committees assist Kiwanis Clubs in establishing and supporting SLP Clubs in communities and promote the concept of continuing and effective sponsorship by the sponsoring club. The Chair of the Committee will be known as the District Administrator of the specified SLP Club. The Governor-Elect will appoint the SLP Committees per the guidelines provided by Kiwanis International.

The term of office of the SLP Committee begins on April 1 and continues until March 31 of any given administrative year, or until its successor has been approved. Any action taken by the SLP Committee between the date of appointment and October 1 will be subject to the approval of the incumbent District Governor. If there is a vacancy on the committee between the date of appointment and October 1, the Governor-Elect will appoint a replacement.

A. Aktion Club - The Committee on Aktion Clubs assists Kiwanis Clubs in establishing Aktion Clubs in their communities and promotes the concept of continuing and effective sponsorship by the sponsoring club. The Chair of the Committee will be known as the District Administrator of Aktion Clubs. In addition to the above responsibilities, the Committee on Aktion Clubs will be responsible for the items below:

- a. The Committee will solicit applications from Ohio Aktion Club members in good standing who are interested in serving as an Aktion Club Ambassador. The person selected would be announced at the Annual Aktion Club Leadership & Education Day and would serve during the following Kiwanis Administrative Year. This ceremonial position would serve as the public face of Ohio's Aktion Clubs and attend various Ohio District Events (i.e., MYED, District Convention, Aktion Club Leadership & Education Day, and any other events as determined by the Committee).
- B. The Committee on Aktion Clubs is responsible for planning and executing the annual conference.
- C. Kiwanis Kids (K-Kids) The Committee on K-Kids assists Kiwanis Clubs in establishing K-Kids Clubs in elementary schools, promotes the concept of continuing and effective sponsorship by the sponsoring club. The Chair of the Committee will be known as the District Administrator of Kiwanis Kids (K-Kids).
- D. Builders Club -The Committee on Builders Clubs assists Kiwanis Clubs in establishing Builders Clubs in junior high/middle schools, promotes the concept of continuing and effective sponsorship by the sponsoring club. The Chair of the Committee will be known as the District Administrator of Builders Clubs.
- E. Key Club The Committee on Key Club is responsible for the proper administration of the Key Club District with approval of the Kiwanis District Board. The Chair of the Committee on Key Club will be known as the District Administrator of Key Club. At the same time, the Governor-Elect will appoint a Youth Protection Manager.

Youth Protection

- 1. The Youth Protection Manager reports to the Ohio District Kiwanis Governor.
- 2. The responsibilities of the Youth Protection Manager are to communicate the basics of Youth Protection Guidelines within the district, to help clubs understand their responsibilities in youth protection, and to be a connection between Kiwanis International and the Kiwanis district/Service Leadership Programs on issues of youth protection.
- **f.** Circle K The Committee on Circle K is responsible for the proper administration of the Circle K District with approval of the Kiwanis District Board. Additionally, this committee will be responsible for promoting the Kiwanis Invests in Circle K (KICK) fund at the Ohio District Kiwanis Foundation.

Circle K is led by its elected members and therefore all Kiwanians who work with the Circle K board shall not adversely influence the operations of the Circle K District. Any direct intervention to be taken in regards to the operations of the Circle K District must be approved by the Kiwanis District Board.

The Chair of the Committee on Circle K Club will be known as the District Administrator of Circle K Club.

- **g.** The Committee on Key Leader shall work to promote the Key Leader program in the Ohio District. The committee will also work with the clubs of the District in providing financial support and information for the Key Leader program. The Chair of the Committee on Key Leader will be known as the District Administrator of Key Leader.
- **Section 4.** The Committee on Service advises and encourages the clubs of the District to provide all types of effective community service, including but not limited to service to children of all ages from birth through teen (including such initiatives as Young Children Priority One and Youth Services), service to the community, and the Governor's service project when one exists.
- **Section 5.** The Human and Spiritual Values (IDEA Committee) will be responsible for resourcing the District and clubs on the topics of Inclusion, Diversity, Equity, and Access, and encourages clubs to cooperate on broad nondenominational lines with local religious leaders and groups to create a greater public consciousness of the importance of religious and spiritual values. The committee will coordinate the memorial service at the District Convention in coordination with the Convention Committee. All clubs should be open and inviting to members and incorporate a sense of belonging for all Kiwanians.
- **Section 6.** The Committee on Inter-Club and Fellowship promotes and encourages the development of fellowship among Kiwanians and our Service Leadership Program (SLP) through organized club visits and other activities where the membership of one club is involved with the membership of another club or K family organization.
- **Section 7.** The Committee on Kiwanis Children's Fund works with the Kiwanis Children's Fund to encourage clubs to participate fully in the programs and activities, including financial support of the Kiwanis Children's Fund.
- **Section 8.** The Public Relations (PR) and Marketing Committee is concerned with the material and the media by which the public receives knowledge of the ideals, Objects, programs, and achievements of Kiwanis International, the Ohio District, and the clubs of the Ohio District. It recommends strategies for increasing public awareness and membership awareness of club, SLP, and District activities. The committee will be responsible for the monthly publication of the Ohio District newsletter and maintaining the Ohio District website. The PR Coordinator and Partnership Coordinator will be members of this committee.
- **Section 9.** The Committee on Membership will be responsible for working with District leadership, Clubs, and Divisions on all aspects of membership growth and retention, including new club opening, club boosting, and new member orientation.
- **Section 10.** The Committee on Risk Management provides clubs and members with information to mitigate risk and promotes awareness of potential liabilities to the club, the officers, and the members.

ARTICLE III: DISTRICT SUPPORT COMMITTEES

Section 1. For District Support Committees, where it is not specified in the Bylaws or Policy Manual of the Ohio District or in the Constitution and Bylaws of Kiwanis International, the members are appointed by the Chair, who will also determine the number of members on the committee. The committee membership information will be forwarded to the Governor-Designate

prior to September 1.

Section 2. The Budget Planning Committee is responsible for the development of the Kiwanis District Budget for the subsequent year. The budget will be developed in accordance with the guidelines contained in this policy manual and will be submitted to the Finance and Structure Committee for their review, approval, and recommendation to the District Board of Directors. See Article V.A. Annual Budget for additional information in regards to the budget.

Section 3. The Committee on Bylaws, Policies, and Resolutions reviews the District Bylaws and the District Policy Manual. It submits recommendations concerning revisions to these documents to the Board of Directors. It consults with the Finance and Structure Committee and the Board of Directors to draft proposed amendments to the District Bylaws and Policies authorized by the Board of Directors. It makes a report on all properly proposed amendments to the District Bylaws to be acted upon by the delegate body at any convention. The Committee assists the Board of Directors in interpreting the spirit of the District Bylaws and the District Policy Manual. The committee is responsible for reviewing/accepting any District Bylaw or Policy amendments proposed by Kiwanis clubs.

In addition, the committee will consider resolutions submitted by the Board of Trustees of Kiwanis International, the Board of Directors of the District, or by a chartered club. Resolutions must be submitted to the chair in writing, thirty (30) days prior to the date of the annual District Convention. The Committee has the authority to originate resolutions.

Section 4.

The Committee on District Convention assists the Governor in developing the official program and order of business for the conventions of the District. The Committee on District Convention will work with the Committee on Club Education and Leadership Development Chair to schedule the educational events at Convention as planned by the Committee on Education in conjunction with the Governor-Elect.

Section 5., The District Convention Site Selection Committee shall review and recommend future District Convention site locations based on the following regional process:

<u>Region Selection:</u> Sites should be considered based on standard rotation for sites within four regions of the Ohio District. Each region will have the opportunity to host a District Convention every four years. If a region passes on the opportunity, they will have to wait until the cycle comes around again to host a District Convention.

The four Regions would be made up of several Divisions with the suggested grouping as follows: Northeast Region---Divisions North Coast, Emerald, N, Western Reserve, Buckeye Canal, Lake Effect, S

Central/Southeast Region---Divisions Mighty Nine, Capital South and East, Capital West, Country Roads

Southwest Region---Divisions Wright Brothers, Queen City, The Gateway Division Northwest Region ---Divisions Northwest, Black Swamp, West Central, Mid-Ohio Mosaic, TWELVE

Any chartered club in good standing or division interested in hosting an annual convention in its region must submit the District Convention Host Application to the District Secretary, who will forward it to the District Governor and to this committee for consideration. The club or division must submit the Application by March 31, two years in advance of the convention year, in order to be given consideration.

The District Convention Site Selection Committee evaluates the venues and makes recommendations for the District Convention site at least two years in advance.

Section 6. The Committee on Club Education and Leadership Development, in conjunction with the Governor-elect, assists the District leadership in developing meaningful educational experiences for all Kiwanians at District Conventions and in conjunction with the Governor on conferences, including Mid-Year Education Day. It ensures that the forums and educational offerings are coordinated between conferences and conventions to provide a variety of experiences without unnecessary duplication. The Committee on Club Education and Leadership Development promotes continuing Kiwanis education within each club. The Committee evaluates the previous year's education programs. The committee is responsible for training all club officers and leaders utilizing programs established by Kiwanis International, in addition to any Ohio District curriculum materials. Working with the Governor-Elect, the committee is also responsible for training the incoming District Board. The Leadership Development Coordinator, the Governor-Elect, District Risk Manager, Youth Protection Manager, and Historian will all be members of this committee, and the committee will oversee the training of these topics to Ohio Kiwanis members.

- **Section 7.** The Executive Committee is defined in the Ohio District Bylaws.
- **Section 8.** The Finance and Structure Committee is defined in the Ohio District Bylaws.

Section 9. The Committee on International Convention works to promote attendance at the International Convention by having an information booth at the District Convention and the Mid-Year Education Day. They will also provide articles for the District newsletter and share goals for attendance at the convention. When the Ohio District has a candidate for an International office, the committee will work in cooperation with the International Elections Committee to support the candidate.

Section 10. The Committee on MidYear Education Day assists the Governor in developing the official program and order of business for the MidYear Conference. The Committee will work with the Education Committee to schedule the educational events at MidYear Education Day as planned by the Education Committee.

Section 11. The Committee of Past District Governors is composed of Past District Governors who are active members of clubs within the District. The Committee determines the method of selecting its Chair, whose name will be submitted to the Governor-Elect prior to September 1.

The Committee of Past District Governors considers and reports to the Governor on all matters referred to it. It also initiates topics for consideration and reports its conclusions to the Governor. A summary of its proceedings is provided to each member of the committee, to the District Governor, and to the District Secretary.

Section 12. The Committee of Past District Treasurers is composed of Past District Treasurers who are active members of clubs within the District. The Committee determines the method of selecting its Chair, whose name will be submitted to the Governor-Elect prior to September 1.

The Committee of Past District Treasurers will consider and report to the Governor its conclusion on all matters referred to it. It will initiate subjects for consideration and report its conclusions to the Board. A summary of its proceedings will be provided to each member of the committee, and to the District Governor and District Secretary.

Section 13. The Committee of Past District Lieutenant Governors is composed of Past District Lt. Governors who are active members of clubs within the District. The committee is governed by its own bylaws. The Committee determines the method of selecting its Chair, whose name will be submitted to the Governor-Elect prior to September 1.

The Committee of Past Lieutenant Governors considers and reports to the Governor on all matters referred to it. It also initiates subjects for consideration and reports its conclusions to the Board. A summary of its proceedings is provided to each member of the committee, to the District Governor, and to the District Secretary.

ARTICLE IV: SPECIAL COMMITTEES

Section 1. Special committees may be appointed by the Governor and will perform the duties as defined in their creation. Each committee will be responsible to the Governor and will make reports as requested by the Governor. All Special Committee members serve at the pleasure of the Governor during the term of the Governor.

Section 2. The Governor is to appoint a committee to review the Ohio Kiwanis divisional alignments every three years beginning in the 2028-2029 administrative year.

ARTICLE V: FINANCE POLICY

Section V.1: ANNUAL BUDGET

- **Section 1.** The Budget Planning Committee is appointed by the Governor-elect with the advice of the Finance and Structure Committee. The Governor-elect and the District Treasurer are members of the Committee, and the District Secretary is an ex officio member. In addition to the Chair of the Committee, it is suggested that the Governor-elect appoint two (2) additional members, one of whom should be a Past Governor.
- **Section 2.** The Budget Planning Committee prepares the annual budget and submits it to the Finance and Structure Committee for review and subsequent recommendation to the District Board of Directors for final approval at their first official meeting. The budget planning process should start in March.
- **Section 3.** The District Treasurer and the Finance and Structure Committee are responsible for the administration of the budget in accordance with sound accounting/management practices.
- **Section 4.** No change will be made in the final approved Annual Budget except as recommended by the Finance and Structure Committee and approved by the Board of Directors. If emergency circumstances arise requiring a change in the Annual Budget between Board Meetings, the Executive Committee is authorized to make annual adjustments of up to 5% of the total budget without advance Board approval. The Board will be notified of any changes at the next regularly scheduled meeting.
- **Section 5.** Annually, the Budget Committee will review with the District Secretary the salary schedule and benefits program for staff members and the staffing needs for the District Office. After review, the Budget Committee will make appropriate recommendations through the proposed annual budget to the Finance and Structure Committee.

Section 6. Budget Plan Guidelines for Income:

- **a.** The budget should be based on the current District membership using the March 31 figure as a guide, unless the membership is projected to be substantially lower by September 30.
- **b**. Using current year investment income as a base, conservative projections should be used when estimating budgeted investment income.
- **c.** The previous year's actual figures should be used when determining Miscellaneous Sale Items.

- **d.** The amount of reimbursement from Key Club and Circle K for administrative services provided by the Kiwanis District will be recommended each year by the Budget Committee to the Finance and Structure Committee. The reimbursement amount approved by the Finance and Structure Committee will be considered for approval by the District Board of Directors as part of next year's budget. Key Club's reimbursement will be considered for approval by the Key Club Board of Trustees at their January or next Board Meeting. The reimbursement for Circle K will be considered for approval by the Circle K Board of Trustees at their April or next Board Meeting
- **e.** The current year's actual new member adds should be used as a guide for budgeting the New Member Fees.
- **f.** Funds not expended at the close of the Ohio District fiscal year become part of the net assets of the District.
- **g.** When Installation is conducted separate from the Annual Convention, net expenditures for installation shall not exceed \$2,000.
- **h**. Revenue accepted from credit card rewards will be added to the District Budget line item: Non-dues income/credit cards.

Section 7. Budget Plan Guidelines for Disbursements:

- **a**. Budget for the Governor, Governor-Elect, and the Immediate Past Governor will be established for their participation in all activities within the District Convention and the International Convention. Additionally, the Governor's budget will include participation in the International Council Meeting.
- **b**. A budget for the Lieutenant Governors will be established for their participation in the International Convention.
- **c.** A budget allowance for operation for each Lieutenant Governor and District Committee Chair will be prepared, taking into account the size of each division and region and the distances each must travel to accomplish assigned responsibilities.
- **d**. It is not the intent of the District to fully reimburse individual Kiwanians for the expenses incurred in performing services for the Ohio District. Allowances are meant to reimburse only a portion of the actual expense.

Section 8. Individual Event and Activity Budgets:

a. District Activity Chairs will submit a budget to the Finance and Structure Committee for review and subsequent recommendation to the Board of Directors. The schedule for the submission of activity budgets is:

<u>ACTIVITY</u>	<u>F&S</u>	BOARD
1. MidYear Conference	October	December *
2. International President's Visit **	October	December *
3. District Convention	January	March
4. International Convention	January	March

5. Installation	January	March
6. Aktion Club Conference	January	March
7. Key Leader	January	March
8. Key Club	July	September
9. Circle K	July	September
10. Builders Club	July	September
11. K Kids	July	September

^{*} If a Board of Directors meeting is not held after the F&S Committee meeting and before January, the Executive Committee will approve this District activity.

- **b.** For reimbursement purposes, the MidYear Education Day and the District Convention will officially begin as specified in the Program.
- **c.** A registration fee may be charged for the Youth and Partners' activities at the MidYear Education Day and the District Convention. This fee should cover only the cost involved in their activities, not the Conference or Convention program. All optional activities, such as tours, reunions, pre-meeting dinners, partner entertainment, youth activities, etc., are to be financed by the participants. They are not to be subsidized by Conference or Convention meals or registration fees. These activities are not part of the complimentary meals or activities offered to Past or Present Officers.
- **d.** It is the decision of the Governor-Elect whether the District Installation is held at the District Convention or on a separate date close to the beginning of his/her year as Governor. Whether the Installation is held at the convention or separately, the net expense (total income less total expenses) to the district will not exceed \$2,000.
- e. The District Secretary is authorized to enter into contracts and pay any necessary deposits for conventions and meetings (e.g., Kiwanis, Kiwanis Service Leadership Program, MidYear) for up to five years in advance of the event with prior approval of the Board of Directors.
- **f.** The District Secretary, or the Events Coordinator, is authorized to enter into small contracts that are associated with an individual district event, provided that the activity covered by the contract falls within the approved budget for the district event and the contract does not exceed \$2,500.
- **g**. Surplus funds from the MidYear Education Day and District Convention shall be accumulated as follows:
 - After all expenses and income for the MidYear Education Day have been reconciled, any surplus funds will be transferred to the District Convention and MidYear Education Day Reserve Fund.
 - After all expenses and income for the District Convention have been reconciled, any surplus funds will be transferred to the District Convention and MidYear Education Day Reserve Fund.
 - Any surplus funds that would exceed the maximum cap level (\$25,000) for the District Convention and MidYear Education Day Reserve Fund will be

^{**} The visit of the International President will not be an annual event and will be determined by Kiwanis International.

transferred to the District Candidate for International Office Fund, which is hereby created. No more than \$15,000 shall be allowed to accumulate in the District Candidate for International Office Fund, with any excess transferred to the District General Reserves.

- Any event deficit will be transferred from the District Convention and MidYear Education Day Reserve Fund before using District General Reserves.
- h. Surplus funds from the Key Leader events shall be accumulated as follows:
 - After all expenses and income for the Key Leader event have been reconciled, any surplus funds will be transferred to the Key Leader Reserve Fund.
 - Any surplus funds that would exceed the maximum cap level (\$10,000) for the Key Leader Fund will be transferred to the District General Reserves.
 - Any event deficit will be transferred from the Key Leader Reserve Fund before using District General Reserves.
- i. Surplus funds from the Aktion Club Conference events shall be accumulated as follows:
 - After all expenses and income for the Aktion Club Conference event have been reconciled, any surplus funds will be transferred to the Aktion Club Conference Reserve Fund.
 - Any event deficit will be transferred from the Aktion Club Conference Reserve Fund before using District General Reserves.

Section 9. Oversight of Ohio District Key Club Funds

- **a.** The District Secretary will:
 - 1. Establish and maintain a Key Club Spreadsheet with income and expense lines that will include the annual budget and year-to-date expenses of the Ohio District Key Club.
 - 2. Compile a financial report of the Ohio District Key Club, for quarterly review by the Finance & Structure Committee and the District Board, and
 - 3. Share with the Finance & Structure Committee, and with the District Board, copies of all contracts submitted by the District Key Club Administrator or by the Foundation Board on behalf of the Ohio District Key Club.
- **b.** The District Key Club Administrator will:
 - 1. Submit copies of vouchers and receipts
 - a. to the District Foundation Treasurer for payment, and
 - b. to the District Secretary for inclusion in the Key Club Spreadsheet, and
 - 2. provide a copy of each contract entered into to the District Secretary, and
 - 3. Provide the Finance & Structure Committee and the District Board, for review, the annual Ohio District Key Club budget, as well as the budgets for the Fall Rally, District Leadership Conference, and the International Convention Tour
- **c.** The District Foundation Treasurer will:
 - 1. On a quarterly basis, forward a list of checks issued for the Ohio District Key Club, reflecting the periods ending on December 31st, March 31st, June 30th, and September 30th

- a. To the District Secretary, and
- b. To the District Key Club Administrator, and
- 2. Provide a copy of each contract entered into on behalf of the Ohio District Key Club to the District Secretary.

Section V.2: RECEIPT OF FUNDS

Section 1. Receipt of all funds for all sanctioned District Activities must be deposited in the official accounts of the District.

Section 2. Incurred expenses for these activities must be paid from District accounts (not petty cash). Departures from this procedure must be approved by the District Treasurer.

Section V.3: PAYMENT OF ACCOUNTS

Section 1. District obligations for which proper invoices have been received (or a disputed invoice which has been accepted) will be paid when due or no later than thirty (30) days following the dates of such invoices. No payment of a District obligation will be made in cash except for items approved as petty cash items.

Section 2. Purchases for District activities and events must be made in the name of the Ohio District and only with the approval of the respective Committee Chair and the District Secretary or the District Governor in the absence of the Secretary. Payments are to be within the budgeted amounts. An exception can be made when the actual income for a specific event is higher than the amount budgeted. In that case, the District Secretary is authorized to approve payments that are higher than budgeted by a similar increase.

Section 3. Expense reports from District Officers, Lt. Governors, and District Committee Chairs will be paid within the budgeted allowances or subsequently approved modifications. Attendance is required for expenses incurred for meetings or events to receive reimbursement.

- **Section 4.** Expense reports for all officers should be forwarded monthly to the District Office.
- **Section 5.** The Lieutenant Governor's expenses for Club Visits should be submitted quarterly to the District Secretary on the District Expense Report Form. The allowance check for the International Convention will be distributed following confirmation of registration for the International Convention and approval of the District Governor.
- **Section 6.** District Chair expenses should be submitted to the District Office at least quarterly and using the Monthly Expense Report Form.
- **Section 7.** For current year Monthly Expense Reports to be honored, they must be received in the District Office before October 15 of the next administrative year. After that date, expenses authorized by the Budget will automatically become void and non-payable.
- **Section 8.** Checks from the Ohio District should be cashed within a period not to exceed thirty (30) days from receipt.

Section 9. Use of the Ohio District of Kiwanis (the "District") Credit Card or Charge Account

- a. Authorization The District must provide written authorization prior to the use of a District credit card or charge account by an independent contractor or District Chair. The Secretary, District Events Coordinator, and Circle K District Administrator will be the only authorized users of a District credit card or charge account.
- b. This authorization includes:
 - 1. The District Board approved budget or event contracts for special events (e.g., District or International conventions, Mid-Year, etc.),
 - 2. The District Board approved the operating budget or approved contracts,
- 3. Special authorization from the District Executive Committee or District Board of Directors,
- c. Employee Agreement The District Secretary, District Events Coordinator, and Circle K District Administrator each must sign an agreement acknowledging that he or she has read and understands the policies and procedures governing the use of a District credit card or charge account.
- d. Restricted Use The use of a District credit card or charge account is subject to the following restrictions:
 - No personal or private expenditure shall be charged to the District account.
 - Regular operating expenses of the District (e.g., monthly telephone bills, internet agreement, etc.) can be charged to a District credit card.
 - Each expense charged must be accompanied by the actual itemized receipt and a brief
 explanation. (For example, if the expense is for meals or food, note on the receipt if it
 was for a luncheon meeting and how many meals were included on the bill). In other
 words, each expense should have the same type of documentation that you would include
 on a request for reimbursement.
 - Capital purchases can be charged to a District credit card with prior approval of the District Executive Committee or District Board.
 - Travel expenses (e.g., airfare, hotel rooms, conference registrations) for District officers can be charged to a District credit card if included in the District's operating budget or are pre-approved by the District Executive Committee or District Board.

- Documentation of each expense along with the monthly statement shall be submitted to the District Treasurer and District Governor no later than 15 days prior to the monthly statement's due date.
- No cash advances will be permitted on a District credit card.
- Card balances must be paid in full before the bill's due date. Exceptions must be approved prior to the due date by the Executive Committee.
- Protect the credit card and any associated PINs at all times.
- Report it stolen or lost as soon as possible.
- Do not allow any unauthorized individuals to be in possession of their credit card.
- e. Card Payments Payments, late fees, and interest related to unauthorized or undocumented charges shall be the responsibility of the individual making the charge.
- f. Credit Card Limits Credit card limits are set at the discretion of the District Board and should not exceed the following amounts:
 - 1. District Secretary \$42,500
 - 2. District Events Coordinator \$2,500
 - 3. Circle K District Administrator \$10,000

Any charges exceeding \$2500 must be approved by the District Board of Directors or Executive Committee.

g. Violations of the District's credit policy shall result in disciplinary action, including termination of the independent contractor agreement, removal from an appointed position, and/or prosecution. The Ohio District of Kiwanis District Board reserves the right to release and withdraw the District credit card at any time, with or without cause.

Section V.4: INVESTMENT POLICY

Section 1. Statement of Purpose

- 1.1 The purpose of this Investment Policy Statement (IPS) is to provide guidelines and a general framework to be utilized by our advisor(s) to effectively allocate, supervise, monitor, and evaluate the investment assets of the Ohio District Kiwanis.
- 1.2 This IPS does not constitute a contract. It is intended solely as a summary of investment philosophy to provide guidance for the management of the Ohio District Kiwanis portfolio. The hiring and retention of any investment advisor requires an additional and separate agreement/contract, which shall be in accordance with the policies and requirements in this IPS.

Section 2. Recognition of Fiduciary Responsibility

- 2.1 The Ohio District Kiwanis recognizes the importance of sound fiduciary practices in both the choice of an investment advisor and in our monitoring of the adviser's practices.
- 2.2 The Ohio District Kiwanis recognizes the following Uniform Standards of Care:
 - 2.2.1 Know standards, laws, and pertinent trust provisions.

- 2.2.2 Diversify assets to a specific risk/return profile for the funds.
- 2.2.3 Prepare a detailed, written investment policy statement.
- 2.2.4 Use "prudent experts" and document due diligence.
- 2.2.5 Control and account for all investment-related expenses.
- 2.2.6 Monitor the activities of "prudent experts".
- 2.2.7 Avoid all conflicts of interest and prohibited transactions.
- 2.3 Our investment advisers must also demonstrate a high degree of their own fiduciary responsibility and adhere to prudent choices of investment products and processes. They must acknowledge and adhere to the above Uniform Standards of Care.

Section 3. Investment Policy Statement

- 3.1 The Ohio District Kiwanis takes seriously the stewardship and responsibility over its funds. The Executive Committee and Finance & Structure Committee will work with its investment adviser to set policy, establish performance benchmarks, and monitor the performance of the Ohio District Kiwanis portfolio against these policies and benchmarks. Investment decisions are the responsibility of the Executive Committee and the Finance & Structure Committee. The District Secretary and/or District Treasurer are authorized to make trades.
- 3.2 The Ohio District Kiwanis investment philosophy reflects the following fiscal objectives:
 - 3.2.1 **Primary Objective:** Preservation of purchasing power,
 Asset growth, exclusive of contributions and withdrawals, should exceed the rate of inflation in order to preserve the purchasing power of the District's assets.
 - 3.2.2 **Secondary Objective:** Growth of capital Asset growth, exclusive of contributions and withdrawals, should provide a rate of return competitive with a balanced portfolio.
- 3.3 These objectives should be achieved by utilizing a strategy of equities, fixed income, cash equivalents and alternative investments in a mix that is conducive to participation in a rising market while allowing adequate protection in a downward market.
- 3.4 It is expected that our portfolio must have a reasonable level of income-producing assets to also give liquidity in addition to long-term growth of capital. The minimal level of overall growth expected would be consistent with the overall market return.

Section 4. Investment Strategies

- 4.1 Using the investment instruments outlined below, the following investment guidelines should be followed for each category of funds.
- 4.2 Invested Funds
 - 4.2.1 Category I Cash and cash alternatives 15% Minimum to 25% Maximum

- 4.2.2 Acceptable investments within this category include: CDs, US Treasuries, savings accounts, interest-bearing checking accounts, short-term bonds, and liquid money market accounts.
- 4.2.3 The aim of this category of the portfolio above all else is to protect the principal.
- 4.2.4 This category, during times of unusual financial market behavior, can be increased to 50% of the portfolio_at the direction of the Executive Committee and/or the Finance & Structure Committee. This increased strategy may result in the reduction of the currently accepted minimums of categories II and/or III.

Reinvestment will occur as decided by the Executive Committee and Finance & Structure Committee with input from the investment advisor.

- 4.3 Category II Value and value/growth blend investments 50% Minimum to 65% Maximum
 - 4.3.1 Acceptable investments within this category include U.S.-based income-producing stocks, mutual funds, exchange-traded funds (ETFs), balanced funds, and bonds.
 - 4.3.2 The aim of this category is to provide current income along with the possibility of long-term growth of capital. It is understood that the value of this portion of the portfolio will fluctuate and will consequently involve risk.
 - 4.3.3 The resources allocated to this category can be invested with a professional money manager either directly, via a mutual fund, or an exchange-traded fund. At the point of investment, the individual asset position will be associated with a closely correlated index and monitored relative to its performance on an ongoing basis with its peer group index.
- 4.4 Category III Growth investments 10% Minimum to 30% Maximum
 - 4.4.1 Acceptable investments within this category include non-income-producing stocks, mutual funds, and exchange-traded funds (ETFs). This category can include large capitalization, mid-capitalization, small capitalization, and international stocks. The category can include assets that are income-producing. The aim of this category is long-term growth of capital with no consideration given to current income. This category is the most aggressive component of the portfolio and will experience more volatility and the possibility of capital losses than the other categories.
 - 4.4.2 The resources allocated to this category can be invested with a professional money manager either directly, via a mutual fund, or an exchange-traded fund. At the point of investment, the individual asset position will be associated with a closely correlated index and monitored relative to its performance on an ongoing basis with its peer group index.

Section 5 Investment Funds and Manager Selection

5.1 The investment funds and managers selected shall have demonstrated the ability to provide above-average returns when measured against their peers and their benchmarks

over time. It is the responsibility of the investment advisor to provide ongoing review and analysis of the managers and funds within the investment account.

- 5.2 An investment may be replaced or repositioned for any of the following reasons:
 - 5.2.1 Departure of one or more of the firm's key investment personnel.
 - 5.2.2 Deviation from the firm's or fund's stated investment discipline.
 - 5.2.3 Poor investment performance over a "reasonable" period of time (two years as a minimum, with three years as a more appropriate period under normal circumstances).
 - 5.2.4 Change of the client's objectives, which become incompatible with the particular investment.
 - 5.2.5 A better alternative not previously available becomes available.
 - 5.2.6 The investment category is not within the stated parameters of this IPS.

Section 6. Investment Advisor Restrictions

- 6.1 There shall be no more than 30% invested in any one industry sector.
- 6.2 The market value of any one individually held stock shall not exceed 5% of the total portfolio. Stock shares held in mutual funds and exchange-traded funds shall not be subject to the 5% rule calculation. The market value of any one investment position in securities issued by the U.S. Government and its agencies, investment in mutual funds, or exchange-traded funds shall not exceed 25% of the portfolio.
- 6.3 There shall be no short selling, securities lending, financial futures, margins, options, or other specialized investments.
- 6.4 There shall be no investments in non-marketable securities, commodities, cryptocurrencies, or speculative real estate.
- 6.5 There shall be no investments in private placements or letter stock, with the exception of those given as gifts.
- 6.6 If any major management or personnel changes are scheduled to occur with the investment adviser's firm, the Finance & Structure Committee is to be immediately notified.

Section 7. Investment Advisor Review Process

- 7.1 The Ohio District Kiwanis Treasurer will monitor investments based on the monthly consolidated statement of positions provided by the investment adviser and miscellaneous specific reports and information prepared by the advisor from public sources.
- 7.2 Advisor will be available for communication as requested and will provide at least quarterly a written performance analysis, including current status, future expectations, analysis of performance and allocation of investments, and performance comparison to peer groups.
- 7.3 Verbal report by the Treasurer to the Finance & Structure Committee chair to provide an update and analysis is encouraged at any time.
- 7.4 The advisor will also meet with the Finance & Structure Committee and/or Board as deemed necessary, to review performance, perspective, and analysis of the portfolio, including peer group comparisons.

7.5 Failure to follow the Ohio District Kiwanis Investment Policy Statement will be grounds for removal. The financial advisor position is an *at-will* relationship, and the Ohio District Kiwanis has the right to terminate the relationship at any time.

Section 8. Policy Review

It shall be the responsibility of the Finance & Structure Committee, along with the Bylaws, Policies, and Resolutions Committee, to review this policy periodically. Any modifications shall be approved by the District Board and reviewed with the investment adviser in a timely manner. It is understood, however, that it is generally not in the best interest of the Ohio District Kiwanis to react to short-term events that contradict the longer-term policy adopted in this policy.

Section V.5: NET ASSETS OF THE OHIO DISTRICT

Section 1. In the context of this section, the term "net assets" refers to the total equity of the District excluding any funds held for Service Leadership Programs. The undesignated net assets of the District refer to the net assets of the District less any Reserve Funds held by the District for the Service Leadership Programs and other Reserve Funds, as designated by the Board of Directors and described elsewhere in this policy.

Section 2. The undesignated net assets of the District should be annually reviewed by the Finance and Structure Committee and the Board of Directors. It is anticipated that the undesignated net assets of the District should be equal to or greater than the average of the last three years' annual total expenses of the District.

Section 3. The Board of Directors should consider proposing a dues increase when the undesignated net assets of the District fall below 50% of the average of the last three years' annual total expenses of the District.

Section 4. The finances of each of the three organizations (District, Key Club, and Circle K) will be considered separately for dues increase purposes.

F. NET ASSETS OF SERVICE LEADERSHIP ORGANIZATIONS

Section 1. All Key Club and Circle K funds not expended at the close of the fiscal year become part of the temporarily restricted net assets for Key Club or Circle K, respectively. These funds are the accumulated assets for the youth organizations and are consolidated in the net assets of the Ohio District of Kiwanis for tax reporting purposes.

Section 2. The District Treasurer must give prior approval, with concurrence of the Board of Directors or Executive Committee, for any non-budgeted request for funds for Key Club or Circle K.

G. AUDITORS (See Bylaws)

Section 1. The books of account of the District shall be subject to annual examination by a CPA firm selected by the Board of Directors. The annual examination shall be at an accounting level to at least comply with Kiwanis International District financial reporting requirements. The CPA firm will also make recommendations to the District Treasurer and District Secretary for implementing and handling District financial matters.

Section 2. The annual financial examination will be submitted to the Finance and Structure Committee at their January meeting. Since the report is for the previous year, the Immediate Past Governor is invited to this meeting.

H. FINANCIAL REPORTS

Section 1. The District Treasurer and District Secretary have responsibility for the preparation of a monthly report of district finances. This report is to include Bank Reconciliations for all depository accounts, as well as a statement of all income and expenses.

Section 2. This financial report is to be made available monthly to the District Board, and quarterly to the Finance & Structure Committee, all active Past Governors, all active Past Treasurers, and all active Past Secretaries. Any Ohio Kiwanian in good standing can request the financial report from the District Secretary. These reports may be distributed electronically.

I. COMPLIMENTARY ROOMS, MEALS, AND REGISTRATION FEES

Section 1. Current District and International Officers:

- **a.** Complimentary room, registration fee, and meal tickets for the Installation Banquet, MidYear Education Day, District Convention, and any Official visit of the International Officers to the District will be provided in the District budget to the following:
 - 1) District Officers and Partners (Governor, Governor-Elect, Treasurer, and Immediate Past Governor),
 - 2) Current International Officer(s) and Trustees from Ohio and Partner(s),
 - 3) Ohio District Key Club and Circle K Governors.
- b. Complimentary hotel room, event registration, and meal costs will be provided for the primary Chairperson of the MidYear Education Day and the District Convention under the budget for the specific event. Any reimbursement for a co-chair will be from the Governor's budget.
- c. The cost to participate in optional events, prior to or following Official Events, is not complimentary.
- d. Room expenses include only the actual room expense plus appropriate taxes. Personal expenses, such as telephone, room service, etc., are not complimentary.
- e. From the District budget, Past International Officers and Trustees and Partners will receive a complimentary room for the District Convention and meal tickets for the Governor's Banquet, complimentary room and banquet tickets at the District Installation, complimentary room and banquet tickets for the visit of the International President, and

complimentary room, meal, and registration for the MidYear Education Day based on the following schedule:

- 1. Past International Trustee for five (5) years after completing the elected office,
- 2. Past International President for life.
- f. Service Leadership Program District Officers (Other than Governor): Meal costs at "Official Functions" will be expensed to the Service Leadership Program Support Line Item at the District's expense.
- **Section 2.** At the District Convention, the Governor-elect will host the International Representative at all times. The host will pay all necessary expenses for the International Representative and Partner except for personal expenses, such as telephone, room service, etc. These documented expenses will be given to the Convention Chair for reimbursement.
- **Section 3.** Additional expenses incurred by a second visit by the International Representative and Partner to the Ohio District will be covered by mutual agreement of the Governor and Chair of the Finance and Structure Committee.
- **Section 4.** Incoming District Chairs are invited to all events, but no provision is made for room, registration fees, meal tickets, or mileage, except as may be provided in the Training Budget.
- **Section 5.** Room, Registration, and meal expenses for the non-officer Ohio District Office Staff who attend and work at a particular District event must be approved by the District Chair of the event, District Governor, and District Secretary, and charged to the expenses of that event.
- **Section 6.** The District Secretary will make all arrangements through the appropriate Activity Chair for the complimentary room, registration fees, and meal tickets described above.

J. GIFTS

- **Section 1.** All gifts described below are to be purchased through the District Office and should be included in the yearly District Budget.
- **Section 2.** The following is a list of recipients and the maximum expenditure allowable for each, including the cost of the gift, wrapping, cards, and shipping charge:
- **a.** The total amount for the International President and Partner at the Official Visit to the District is not to exceed \$200.00. The gift is selected and presented by the Governor;
 - **b.** The total amount for the International Representative and Partner at the Official Visit to the District is not to exceed \$150.00; and the gift is selected and presented by the Governor-elect;
- **c.** The total amount for the retiring District Governor and Partner at the District Convention Governor's Banquet is not to exceed \$350.00; and the gift is selected and presented by the Immediate Past Governor;

- **d.** The total amount for the retiring District Treasurer and Partner at the District Convention Governor's Banquet is not to exceed \$200.00, and the gift is selected and presented by the Immediate Past Governor;
 - **e.** Upon the death of a current Board Member or partner, or a Past District Officer, or partner, the District Office will send flowers or an appropriate memorial donation from the District as a tribute to the Kiwanis service provided by that individual. As a guideline, the cost of flowers or a donation should not exceed \$75. The Governor and the District Secretary will determine the appropriate memorial for the deceased. The District Budget should include a line item for this expense as determined by the budget committee.
 - **f.** Plans for any other gifts for International or District Officers at District expense must be reviewed by the Finance and Structure Committee.

K. EXPENSE ALLOWANCES FOR DISTRICT OFFICERS, DISTRICT CHAIRS, COMMITTEE MEMBERS, and OFFICE STAFF

Section 1. Governor, Governor-Elect, Immediate Past Governor, and District Treasurer: In addition to the complimentary room, meals and registration fees described in Article V, I, Section 1., a., the Governor, Governor-Elect, Immediate Past Governor, and District Treasurer as part of the annual budget for that office, receives a mileage allowance for attending Kiwanis related activities, an allowance for administrative expenses related to the office, and an allowance for attending the International Convention. The District Secretary shall request a second officer to approve an expense voucher filed by another officer to ensure conformance with allowed expenses.

Section 2. Immediate Past District Treasurer: The Immediate Past District Treasurer receives a mileage allowance for attending the first Board Meeting of the new Administrative Year.

Section 3. District Secretary and Office Employees:

- a. All expenses for the District Secretary and Events Coordinator will be established in the Annual Budget and include all District activities, appropriate International Meetings, and other District business as required in the performance of their duties. Auto travel expenses for activities related to the office will be reimbursed at the IRS standard business mileage rate and must not exceed the jet coach fare. Total disbursements may not exceed the budgeted amount for the year unless previously reviewed by the Finance and Structure Committee and approved by the Board of Directors. The District Governor must approve all expense vouchers of the District Secretary and Events Coordinator.
- **b.** Other District Office employees will be reimbursed, at the IRS standard business mileage rate, for travel related to the operation of the district office.

Section 4. Lieutenant Governors: Each Lieutenant Governor is eligible to receive reimbursements as provided in the adopted district budget. Typically, these will be mileage allowances and stipends for club visits and attendance at District Events.

- **Section 5. District Chairs:** Selected District Chairs receive an allowance as specified in the budget toward promotion of their particular area throughout the District. This allowance can be for mileage and/or administrative expenses. Actual disbursements may not exceed these budgeted allowances.
 - **a.** Those District Chairs who may have budgets available from Kiwanis International must first submit expenses to Kiwanis International before submitting them to the Ohio District of Kiwanis for reimbursement.
 - **b.** If submitting hotel charges for travel, the maximum payable per night is \$150.00. Receipts are required for reimbursement. If the District Chair is within 2 hours of their home, no reimbursement will be made unless the visit is for multiple nights or it will create a hardship to travel home for some reason.
 - **c.** Meal reimbursement while traveling on Ohio District business will be limited to \$15.00 for Breakfast, \$20.00 for Lunch, and \$30.00 for Dinner. Itemized receipts are required, and district reimbursement does not include alcoholic beverages.
 - **d.** The District Secretary will advise each district chair of their total budget line amount at the beginning of each Kiwanis Administrative Year.
- Section 6. Lieutenant Governor-Elect: Each Lieutenant Governor-Elect receives a mileage allowance and room allowance (50% of the Double Room charge) to attend the Lieutenant Governor-Elect Training Session. (These allowances are specified in the Education & Training Budget.)
- **Section 7. District Training Faculty:** Each CLE Trainer who participates in the Annual Training Session for Lieutenant Governor Elects receives a mileage allowance and a room allowance while attending the training session. (These allowances are specified in the Education & Training Budget.)
- **Section 8.** The mileage rate will be the IRS standard business rate in effect at the start of each Kiwanis year.
- **Section 9. Disallowed expenses**. No officer or committee chair shall be entitled to expense or to be reimbursed for any of the following types of expenses: Sponsorship of a Kiwanis event; Donations or contributions to any non-profit or political entity; Material or cash gifts to a Kiwanis members' campaign for Kiwanis office; Apps, software, or communication platforms or devices that are not for the exclusive use of the District; Illegal substances; Legal fees; Personal services and needs; Insurances; Damage or loss of personal items; Retail memberships; Gifts unless otherwise permitted by policy; Entertainment expenses not directly related to a Kiwanis event; Any and all expenses related to personal negligence, such as fines, fees or deductibles. Office supplies or equipment that may be provided by or procured through the District Office will not be reimbursed.

ARTICLE VI: PROTOCOL

A. HOSTING INTERNATIONAL AND DISTRICT OFFICERS

Section 1. International Officers

- **a.** The Official Visit of the International President is a District Event and will not be used to coincide with any activity of an individual club or division unless requested by the International President. The District Governor is responsible for all arrangements of the Visit.
- **b.** As a matter of courtesy, any other visits by International Officers to clubs or divisions, the club or division leader will notify the District Governor.

Section 2. Guidelines for District Governor's Official Regional Visit to Combined Division Council Meetings

(See <u>Kiwanis International Lieutenant Governors Guidebook</u> on "Governor's Official Visit" and "Council Meeting Conducted in Conjunction with the Governor's Official Visit to the Division."

- **a.** As early as possible in the Administrative year, each Lieutenant Governor should consult with the Governor, schedule the date for the Governor's Official Visit, and confirm the date in writing.
- **b.** Confirmation to the Governor for any visit of the Governor should include the following information:

Date, time, and place (with directions and any construction areas),

Partner event (yes or no),

Dress (formal, semi-formal, or informal),

Complimentary overnight accommodations (if needed, check with the Governor), Reception details (check with the Governor).

- **c.** It is the responsibility of the Governor to meet with the club presidents prior to the dinner. It is the responsibility of the Lieutenant Governor to invite and ensure the club presidents are in attendance. Allow at least forty-five (45) minutes for discussion and questions at this meeting
- **d.** This is the Governor's Official Visit to the Division. The District Governor is the speaker and the program for the event.
- **e.** If entertainment, such as a vocal group, is to be part of the program, the performance should not exceed fifteen (15) minutes. All business and announcements should be brief. Plan to start on time and keep on schedule.
- **f.** Arrange the head table or reserved tables in advance using name place cards. In advance, advise those at the head table or reserved tables where they are to sit. If other guests are to be seated in a special area, they should also be advised. (Use the seating chart found in this Manual as a guide.)
- **g.** As host, arrive at the meeting place well before the Governor arrives.

- **h.** Plan carefully and delegate details to others so that there is sufficient help. The Lieutenant Governor should be free to serve as host to the Governor.
- **i.** On behalf of the Division, it has been customary, but not mandatory, to present a gift to the Governor, or the Governor and Partner.
- **j.** Thank the Governor for their time and contribution to Kiwanis and the Division. Don't recap the speech, add to it, or make one of your own.
- **k.** The Governor and Partner are guests of the division or region. Their meals and overnight accommodations, if it is necessary for them to stay overnight, should be provided by the division or region at no cost.
- **l.** No jokes, stories, entertainment, or entertainers that might be offensive to any of the audience should be included.
- **m.** GOOD MEETINGS REQUIRE PREPARATION, EXECUTION, AND CONCLUSION.
- **n.** The following are seating charts for Kiwanis events:

US Flag	Visit of International	US Flag	District Governor Visit	US Flag	Lt. Governor Visit
	President/Officer				
	Invocator		Invocator		
	Other Honored Guest/s		Other Honored Guest/s		Invocator
	Lt. Governor, Host Div.		Lt. Governor, Host Div.		Honored Guest/s
	Governor-Elect		Governor-Elect		Immediate Past President
	International President/Officer		Governor		Lieutenant Governor
	Governor, Host District		President, Host Club		Club President
Audience	PODIUM (if used)	Audience	PODIUM (if used)	Audience	PODIUM (if used)
	Toastmaster		Toastmaster		Toastmaster
	Other Program Participant		Other Program Participant		Other Program Participant
	Other International Officer/s		International Officer/s		Club Secretary
	Immediate Past District Governo	r	Past District Governor		Song Leader
	Club President, Host City		Other Honored Guest/s		
	Other Honored Guest/s		District Secretary		
Kiwanis	Song Leader	Kiwanis	Song Leader	Kiwanis	
Flag	-	Flag	-	Flag	

Section 3. Head Table Seating

- **a.** When International or District Officers are visitors to your club or division, the following outline will assist in arranging seating at the Head Table:
- **b.** The President of the Club takes precedence over all International and District Officers and occupies the center position. However, if a Toastmaster is used, the Toastmaster should occupy the center position with the President at the right and the Speaker, if applicable, at the left. The positions of honor then alternate from right to left to the end of the head table. The positions are assigned according to the order of preference shown on the diagram above.
- **c.** If the Toastmaster or Speaker is an International or District Officer, preference is given to the position as program participant rather than the position of honor accorded that office.

- **d.** When partners are invited and space permits, they are to be seated at the Head Table alternately between others present--either on the right or left of their Kiwanian as appropriate. If partners cannot be seated at the head table, they should be seated together at reserved tables immediately in front of the head table.
- **e.** When a club acts as host club at a District function, the District Governor should occupy the same position that the International President does in the diagram above, with the others following on the left and right sides of the podium as indicated by position in the District, division, and club.
- **f.** When a division function is held, the Lieutenant Governor replaces the Governor, and others sit in the places determined by their rank.

B. INTERNATIONAL AND DISTRICT ELECTIONS PROCEDURES

Section 1. A. International Elections Committee – General Operations

- **a.** The Ohio District International Elections Committee will be composed of the Governor, Immediate Past Governor, Governor-Elect, the Ohio District International Elections Committee Chair, and all active Ohio District Past Governors. The International Elections Committee Chair will call and chair all meetings of the committee.
- **b.** The Ohio District International Elections Committee Chair is selected by the candidate or the committee when there is no candidate. The Committee Chair may select campaign assistant chairs as needed.
- **c.** The candidate and the chair collaborate to develop a campaign budget, strategy, fundraising, etc., with assistance from the Ohio District International Elections Committee.
- **d.** The Ohio District International Elections Committee will have an appointed secretary. The secretary will maintain all committee meeting records and other associated campaign-related materials.
- **e.** When the Ohio District has a candidate for an office, the International Elections Committee will coordinate activities with the International Convention Committee.
- f. The Ohio District of Kiwanis International shall establish an Ohio District International Office Fund, which shall be managed by the Ohio District International Elections Committee with the approval of the Ohio District Board. The Ohio District International Office Fund can be used for the following and other activities as approved by the Ohio District International Elections Committee and the District Kiwanis Board:
 - Procuring election promotional materials
 - Website, blog, Twitter (X) accounts
 - Mailing costs
 - Cost of a reception or District event to provide exposure for an Ohio District candidate for international office and to rally the efforts of District Kiwanians for the campaign effort at the International Convention.

- Cost of a reception after the election session of the District candidate
- Cost for food and supplies for the District caucus at convention
- Travel expenses
- International convention candidate booth
- **g.** A budget outlining Fund use shall be submitted to the Ohio District International Elections Committee prior to Fund expenditures. The budget shall be approved by the Ohio District International Elections Committee and the Ohio District Board prior to any fundraising or expenditures.
- **h**. The Ohio District shall allocate funds from the profits of the Ohio District mid-year education day and the annual District convention to the Ohio District International Office Fund per Ohio District Policy Article V Section 8 letter g. The District shall also allow the Ohio District International Elections Committee to host events and secure donations for the Fund.
- i. All expenditures from the District Candidate for International Office Fund will be initiated and approved by the Ohio District International Elections Chair. If the Chair is not available, the Ohio District International Elections Committee secretary will serve in this capacity.

Section 2. Candidates for District Kiwanis Office

- **a.** To maintain the dignity and social standards which have always been associated with Kiwanis and its Official Family, candidates for District Offices and the Finance and Structure Committee are to observe the following:
- 1.) The public announcement of intention to run for said office should be made only after October 1 of the administrative year the person intends to run. Declarations of Candidacy forms are available from the District Secretary. Completed forms should be on file at the District Office not later than March 1.
- **2.)** The person must secure endorsement of their home Kiwanis club and their home division, and may include no more than three (3) additional divisional endorsements in any publication or presentation.
- **3.)** Brochures, postcards, letters of support, emails with candidate information, websites in support of a candidate, Twitter (X), Facebook, or other electronic media may be mailed or posted after January 1 of the election year.
- **4).** Election information in any form of media, written, or otherwise, may not be distributed, posted, or otherwise disseminated at any District function except at Division Council meetings and the District Convention, then only as described in Section 3,b below.
- **5.)** If requested, the District Office will provide an electronic list of District officers, Committee chairs, Division officers, Club Presidents, and Secretaries at no cost.
- **6.)** Only those candidates who have met the filing deadline will be featured in an issue of the District newsletter.

- **7.)** Any Kiwanian in good standing who meets the requirements outlined in the Ohio District Bylaws for a specified office can be a candidate for office.
 - a. Candidates for an office that requires a fiduciary responsibility must have a club in good standing with the Ohio District as their primary club. The primary club is determined by the member in accordance with Article VIII, Section 4 of the Kiwanis International Bylaws.
 - b. Because of potential conflicts of interest, no member can hold a position of fiduciary responsibility in the Ohio District if that member also holds a position of fiduciary responsibility in another Kiwanis District.
 - c. Any member seeking any District leadership position, and not physically residing in the Ohio District or a border community, shall provide the District Board a detailed, written plan on how they will fulfill the responsibilities and expectations of the position, and which shall be approved by the District Board.
- 8). Campaigns should be conducted with dignity, decorum, and social acceptance.

Section 3. District Convention Protocol

- a. All candidates for District Office and for the positions on the Finance and Structure Committee may host a joint reception for Convention attendees. This will be held in a designated area, and all candidates may be asked to share the expense. Ohio District Kiwanis Foundation candidates are invited to participate in this reception, including the sharing of expenses.
- **b.** Copies of a candidate's brochure or information, promotional handouts, promotional hats, pins, T-shirts, etc., may be given to delegates during and after the Reception mentioned above, but may not be handed out, distributed, or worn at any other Official function of the District prior to the Reception mentioned above.
- **c.** No reception, board reunion, or open house will be conducted during a planned convention activity.
- **d.** As a Kiwanis tradition, it has been customary for the partner of a newly elected District Officer to be escorted by the Past Governor who was governor at the time the newly elected District Officer served as Lieutenant Governor. However, the newly elected District Officer is completely free to exercise his/her own preference in this matter.

Section 4. District Convention Elections Results

- **a.** If a Ballot is used for any contested race before the House of Delegates, the Governor shall appoint an Elections committee composed of at least three (3) Kiwanis members and approved by the House of Delegates. The Elections Committee will be responsible for distributing, collecting, and counting the ballots.
- **b.** To be considered valid, all ballots cast by each delegate must be placed by the delegate in the ballot boxes distributed and collected by the tellers.
- **c.** A minimum of three (3) Elections Committee members shall count the ballots of any contested vote.

- **d.** A minimum of two (2) counts of each contested ballot shall be made until the vote totals consistently match to ensure the accuracy of the results.
- **e.** The results of any balloted race will be reported to the District Governor as soon as the ballots are counted.
- **f.** The District Governor will announce the results of the balloted election, only giving the name of the winner of the election and not announcing the ballot count. The ballot count will be kept confidential.
- g. The Ballots will be given to the District Secretary immediately after the ballot count and will be destroyed as soon as possible. There will be no sharing of the ballot counts except to the District Governor. The ballot count will be kept confidential.

Section 5. Standing Rules for House of Delegates

- **a.** The following are the suggested rules for the House of Delegates at the District Convention and should be printed in the convention program and adopted by the House of Delegates at the beginning of the Delegate session.
 - 1. Only delegates may be seated in the area designated for delegates.
 - 2. The House of Delegates will be closed once the credentials report is adopted.
 - 3. The House of Delegates shall allow delegates to leave and re-enter; however, ballots (written or electronic) shall not leave the House. Delegates leaving the House early must surrender their ballots to an Elections Committee volunteer at the pass-out door; their ballots will be returned to delegates upon re-entry to the House. In no case will a delegate be allowed to cast a ballot for any votes conducted in their absence.
 - 4. Only delegates with official delegate badges may present or speak on a motion and vote.
 - 5. Any main motion or amendment will be written, signed by the maker and seconded, and presented to the District Secretary sixty (60) days in advance before it is moved.
 - 6. No delegate may speak more than three (3) minutes at a time unless allowed to do so by the orders of the day or by a majority vote of the delegates.
 - 7. No delegate may address the assembly a second time on the same question until all delegates who desire to speak on the topic have spoken.
 - 8. The maker of a motion will be entitled to speak first in support of such motion or may immediately yield the floor to another delegate.
 - 9. The debate will alternate between those speaking for and those speaking against a motion.
 - 10. When appropriate, microphones will be designated by number. The Chair will recognize microphones in rotating order.
 - 11. If, in the judgment of the Chair, a proposed amendment to any proposed resolution or amendment is closely linked, then debate may proceed on both the proposed amendment and the proposed resolution or amendment together.
 - 12. A delegate will not speak for or against a motion and move to close debate on the same recognition.
 - 13. Debate on any proposed resolution or amendment to the Constitution and Bylaws, including any amendments thereto, will be limited to thirty (30) minutes.

- 14. A motion to move the previous question will not be in order until fifteen (15) minutes of debate have taken place or all microphones are clear.
- 15. The Candidate for Governor may have one nominating speech not to exceed three (3) minutes and a seconding speech not to exceed one (1) minute.
- 16. Candidates for Governor-Elect may have one nominating speech not to exceed one (1) minute, with a second from the floor. The candidates may then address the delegates, not to exceed three (3) minutes.
- 17. Candidates for Treasurer may have one nominating speech not to exceed one (1) minute, with a second from the floor. The candidates may then address the delegates, not to exceed two (2) minutes.
- 18. Candidates for the Finance and Structure Committee will be nominated and seconded from the floor, with no speech, giving only the name, club, and division number of the candidate. The candidates may then address the delegates, not to exceed one (1) minute.
- 19. Any rule herein above may be suspended by a majority vote of the delegates.
- 20. The Ohio District Board of Directors is authorized to make nonsubstantive corrections that may be necessary as a result of adopting bylaw amendments that cause unintentional conflicts or inconsistencies in terminology, grammar, numbering, cross-references, etc.
- 21. Robert's Rules of Order (latest edition) will be the parliamentary authority for all matters of procedure not specifically covered by the Constitution and Bylaws of Kiwanis International and the above standing rules.

C. ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGES AND GAMBLING

Section 1. Alcoholic Beverages

a. Alcohol may be served or consumed at Kiwanis events in a legal and responsible manner, provided such serving or consumption is done in accordance with the customs and applicable laws where the club or other Kiwanis entity is located. Because the presence of alcohol at a function greatly increases the risk of personal injury, Kiwanis clubs and other Kiwanis entities must be conscious of liability exposure whenever alcohol is offered. All Kiwanis entities should adhere to the alcohol guidelines established by Kiwanis International when providing alcohol at an event; see Kiwanis International Policy -Procedure 173 – Alcohol Guidelines for Kiwanis Clubs and Other Kiwanis Entities.

Section 2. Gambling

Any Kiwanis club may sponsor or participate in a lottery, raffle, drawing, or game of chance offered to the general public for the purpose of raising service funds for the club, division, Ohio District, or Ohio District Foundation. All current state and local statutes and laws in effect will be observed.

D. KIWANIS NAME, EMBLEM, INSIGNIA

The Kiwanis name, emblem, and/or insignia of Kiwanis International will not be used for any purpose other than authorized by the Board of Trustees of Kiwanis International. Any emblem and/or insignia of the Ohio District or the Ohio District Foundation will not be used for any purpose other than authorized by the Boards of those organizations.

- 1. Any use of the "Ohio District of Kiwanis International" name, or portion thereof, to be imprinted, emblazoned, embellished, debossed, or otherwise affixed to an object made for sale or gift shall be subject to the approval of the District Board, with the exception of club produced objects that contain the name Ohio and/or Kiwanis and those items produced by the Ohio District Kiwanis Foundation. Requests must be made in writing and sent to the Secretary at least 90 days prior to a scheduled District Board meeting. Kiwanis International policies on product licensing will be followed, including the use of a Kiwanis International-approved vendor/licensee.
- 2. For items that are made for sale using the District name or likeness, a 10% royalty fee shall be paid by the seller to the District on the gross sale amount within 60 days of the date of sale. The Ohio District Kiwanis Foundation remains exempt from this royalty fee.

E. SOLICITING FOR FUNDS

It is recommended that each club confine its fund-raising activities to ones that will not interfere with similar activities of other clubs in the area.

F. PRIVACY OF DISTRICT INFORMATION

Section 1. The Ohio District Kiwanis Directory and other pertinent Kiwanis information are published to provide an official source of information concerning Kiwanis clubs, divisions, and district committees. No commercial organization, foundation, individual, Kiwanis Family Club, or Kiwanis Family Club member is authorized to use that information to offer any product for sale; to solicit funds from Kiwanis Family clubs or members; or for any purpose other than Kiwanis information, unless approved by the District Governor.

The Ohio District Kiwanis Directory is the property of the Ohio District of Kiwanis International and not the property of any Kiwanis club, member, or individual. The information is protected by copyright and is not to be used in violation of the Ohio District Kiwanis Policy. Questions concerning the appropriate use of Ohio District information should be directed to the District Secretary at 1-614-848-5000.

Section 2. The privacy policy concerning District information shall be included in the Ohio District Kiwanis Directory and other publications of Kiwanis Information.

Section 3. Divisions and Clubs are encouraged to publish similar statements in their Directories or other publications of Kiwanis Information.

G. OPENING A NEW CLUB OUTSIDE THE DIVISION BOUNDARIES

Section 1. The Lieutenant Governor from the division desiring to open a club that will be located in a different division shall notify the Governor prior to initiating the process. The Lt. Governor shall discuss the interest in forming a club with the Lt. Governor of the division in which the new club will be geographically located. The Governor shall mediate any disagreement between the divisions.

Section 2. In all cases when the sponsoring club is located outside of the division where the new club will be geographically located, the District Board of Directors shall determine the division to which the new club is assigned. This decision shall be made prior to submission of the charter information to Kiwanis International.

Section 3. The assignment of a club to a division is made on an individual club basis. Subsequently, if a club in either division has interest in and opportunity for forming another club in the same service area, the procedure outlined in Sections 1 and 2 above shall be followed.

Section 4. Credit for building a new club is awarded to the sponsoring club(s).

H. PRESENTING INFORMATION TO THE FINANCE AND STRUCTURE COMMITTEE AND/OR DISTRICT BOARD

Section 1. All items submitted for review by the F&S Committee should be submitted to the F&S Committee Chair, who will review the information submitted, request additional information or clarification as necessary before acceptance, and forward any accepted items to the F&S Committee. The F&S Chair shall submit all accepted items to the F&S Committee as soon as practicable and ideally at least seven (7) days before consideration to allow for review and proper due diligence by F&S Committee members.

Section 2. Any items referred to the Governor or for Board action shall be sent as soon as practicable and ideally at least three (3) days before the Governor finalizes the Board agenda and materials. The standard practice is to provide the Board agenda and materials at least seven (7) days prior to the meeting.

I. DOCUMENT RETENTION AND DESTRUCTION

The Kiwanis District Board charges Staff to maintain a comprehensive document retention and destruction process for both paper and electronic records relating to Kiwanis

District operations in compliance with accepted standards and practices for the subject area the documents or records pertain to (i.e., employment, finance, tax, legal, board actions, etc.).

Because it is a crime to alter, cover up, falsify, or destroy any document or records with the intent of obstructing current or potential legal proceedings, all Kiwanis District Board members, Staff, and volunteers should especially be aware of and comply with applicable laws regarding the preservation and provision of documents in the event of legal proceedings.

J. PROTECTION OF WHISTLEBLOWERS

The Kiwanis District Board charges Staff to maintain a policy that provides an avenue for employees to raise concerns ("whistle blowers") with the assurance that they will be protected from reprisals or retaliation for raising those concerns in good faith.

ARTICLE VII: DISTRICT NEWSLETTER

Section 1. The district newsletter is published by the Ohio District Kiwanis.

Section 2. District newsletter publication dates will be established by the District Governor and the newsletter editor.

ARTICLE VIII: REPORTING CLUB ACTIVITIES AND PROJECTS

Section 1. Reporting of the club's activities, club projects, and club statistics shall be through the online reporting system of Kiwanis International at www.kiwanis.org. If assistance is needed with this system, the District Secretary should be contacted.

Section 2. No annual report will be required from Kiwanis clubs. The annual report information for clubs and any possible reporting awards will be taken from the monthly report information submitted.

Section 3. Reporting is the only way that the Divisions, District, International, or the world will know about your Kiwanis activities. Your reports are needed and appreciated.

ARTICLE IX: DUES AND SPONSORSHIP FEES

Kiwanis International and Ohio District Kiwanis Club Dues are summarized here for convenience.

A. KIWANIS CLUB DUES

Section 1. KIWANIS INTERNATIONAL - Billed and collected by Kiwanis International.

\$77.00 Kiwanis International

\$ 8.00 per year for the Publication/Communication fee

\$18.00 per year for Liability Insurance*

\$ 4.00 per year for Directors and Officers (D&O) Insurance*

\$107.00 Payable Annually

Section 2. Ohio District - Billed and collected by Kiwanis International. (Notes: Dues and Fees are wired to the Ohio District Kiwanis International periodically as collected.)

\$ 26.00 Payable Annually

Section 3. A new member fee shall be paid to the District equal to the amount of prorated District dues as of the month the member joins the club or former members are reinstated. The prorated fee shall follow the schedule set forth by Kiwanis International.

Section 4. Annual dues are based on the membership count on October 1st.

B. CIRCLE K DUES

Section 1. When a new Circle K Club is formed, the sponsoring Kiwanis club pays a chartering fee set by Kiwanis International.

Section 2. Circle K Members: Each member pays to Circle K International their International Dues as set forth by CKI bylaws and \$12.00 per individual member to the Ohio District Circle K (billed by and paid to Circle K International). Note: Members joining after April 15th pay only \$5.00 to the Ohio District

C. KEY CLUB DUES

Section 1. When a new Key Club is formed, the sponsoring Kiwanis club pays a chartering fee set by Kiwanis International.

Section 2. Sponsorship Fees. The sponsoring club pays a \$100.00 annual sponsorship fee to the Ohio District Key Club. This fee is due November 30.

Section 3. Key Club Members. Each member pays to Key Club International their International Dues as set forth by Key Club International bylaws and \$3.00 to the Ohio District Key Club (billed by and paid to Key Club International).

^{*} Recommended payment from the club service account

D. BUILDERS CLUB DUES

Section 1. When a new Builders Club is formed, the sponsoring Kiwanis club pays a chartering fee set by Kiwanis International.

Section 2. The sponsoring Kiwanis club will pay an annual fee as set by Kiwanis International in subsequent years.

E. K-KIDS CLUB DUES

Section 1. For a newly chartered K-Kids club, the annual club kit will be sent to the club once the petition for charter and the applicable chartering fee are received.

Section 2. K-Kids Members. There are no dues or membership fees for K-Kids. In place, the sponsoring club pays an annual fee set by Kiwanis International. This fee provides a kit with club and member materials for the K-Kids club, as well as a subscription to K-Kidzone, the official member publication of K-Kids.

Section 3. If there are over 50 members of a K-Kids club, additional charges for supplies will be incurred.

F. AKTION CLUB DUES

Section 1. When forming a new Aktion Club, the sponsoring Kiwanis club pays a chartering fee as set by Kiwanis International.

Section 2. Aktion Members. Each member will pay Kiwanis International for annual dues.

ARTICLE X: KIWANIS MEMBERS WORKING WITH SERVICE LEADERSHIP PROGRAM PARTICIPANTS AND OTHER YOUTH ACTIVITIES

- **Section 1.** Service Leadership Program participants deserve the best Kiwanis has to offer. This includes the relationship and interaction between SLP participants and those adults who so generously give of themselves to assure the success of Kiwanis Service Leadership Programs. It also includes the relationship and interaction between youth impacted by other District Kiwanis-sponsored projects and those adults involved in the activities of those projects.
- **Section 2. Applicability** Policy Articles X and XI apply to adults serving as chaperones, transportation providers, and/or those in direct supervisory roles with youth under the age of majority at District events only. Such events include but are not limited to Key Club Fall Rally and Key Club District Convention, Key Leader, Kiwanis District Convention, and Mid-Year Education Day. These policies do not apply to adults serving as casual volunteers at such events, wherein such adults are not directly supervising youth, are not likely to be alone with individual youth attendees, and are not in a direct position of authority over the youth attendees. E.g., these policies do not apply to volunteers serving as contest judges, observers, merchandise store workers, facilitators, or similar positions.
- **Section 3.** Chaperone: A chaperone is defined as a Kiwanis member, faculty member, parent, legal guardian, or person who is in *loco parentis*, twenty-one (21) years of age or older, who has been approved by the school or agency and registered with the school or agency to accompany the youth members at the specific event.
- **Section 4.** Use of Alcoholic Beverages and Tobacco: While attending any district event that is produced primarily by or for the benefit of youth, adults are expected to refrain from consumption of alcoholic beverages and/or the use of tobacco products during any portion of the event.
- **Section 5. Reporting:** If a Kiwanian observes troubling behavior involving a youth at a district event or becomes aware of a situation that is illegal or potentially unsafe for a young person at a district event, he/she must immediately contact the appropriate personnel at the event as well as provide notification to law enforcement personnel as appropriate. All local, state, provisional, and federal laws regarding reporting must be followed.
- **Section 6. Overnight stays:** While attending a district event that requires an overnight stay in a hotel or camp/conference setting, adequate adult chaperoning is expected and should include no fewer than one adult male for each ten or part of ten youth males, and one adult female for each ten or part of ten youth females. Except for a parent sharing a sleeping room or other sleep quarters (e.g., a tent) with his/her own child sleeping room, no adult should share a hotel or dormitory sleeping room with a youth. In the event that sleeping quarters consist of multiple beds, such as a bunkhouse or camp cabin, adults may share the sleeping quarters with youth members of the same gender, provided that two or more adults are present.
- **Section 7. Transportation:** Adults transporting youth in a vehicle should do so with a second adult in the vehicle, or, in hardship cases, the "rule of threes", being at least three people in the car at all times, is recommended. All transportation decisions should be made in accordance with local laws and school policies.

- **Section 8. Medications:** The possession of prescription and nonprescription medications by youth at a district event should be permitted only with the written permission of the parent/guardian. An appropriate health/medication form may be required per school policy or SLP policy.
- **Section 9. Criminal History Background Checks:** Criminal history background checks for adults working with youth participants under the age of majority at District events and activities may be required for all such adults and, if conducted, should conform to applicable local and state/provincial laws and requirements. All adults working with youth at all district-sponsored events must have a background check that is considered to be "clear", based on criteria established by Kiwanis International. Such events include, but are not limited to, the Kiwanis district convention, Key Club district convention, Kiwanis Mid-Year Conference, etc.
- **Section 10.** Conflicts with other rules: Whenever these guidelines conflict with local school policies or rules, or local, state, or national laws or regulations, the highest applicable standards for conduct shall prevail.
- Section 11. Personal information: All documents bearing personal information of any youth attending a district event, including registration forms, medical information forms, permission to treat forms, etc., should be treated as confidential. Processes that protect this information must be created, including minimizing the number of people who have access to any such documents. The documents should be maintained for a minimum of three years or longer as may be required by applicable state laws and regulations. After the maintenance period has expired, the documents should be destroyed in a way that maintains confidentiality, such as shredding. The disposal and destruction of all confidential information shall conform to applicable state laws and regulations. Maintenance, storage, and destruction shall be the responsibilities of the District Office, except as otherwise required by Kiwanis International or other superior entities.
- **Section 12.** Education: Every Kiwanis district is expected to provide an educational forum or workshop at every district-produced convention and conference on guidelines and best practices for adults working with youth, using materials provided by Kiwanis International.
- Section 13. Youth and Social Media: For any social networking site that involves requesting a connection (such as inviting someone to be a friend on Facebook), adults should never initiate such connections with youth. If a youth requests such a connection from a Kiwanian, he/she should use their best judgment in responding. Adults should treat their interaction with youth on social networking sites as though the interaction were occurring in public, in front of other adults and young people. In other words, if it would not be appropriate to say something to the young person in public, it should not be said as a comment on a social networking site either. Kiwanians should refrain from interactions that can be excessive (such as constantly "liking" or commenting on a person's posts on Facebook). Prior to posting any media online, such as photographs, obtain permission from any and all individuals (or parents for minors) who appear in that media; it could be illegal to do otherwise.
- **Section 14. Behavioral or Health Issues:** Kiwanians are often seen by a young person as an adult to trust with personal and/or sensitive information. Kiwanians should refrain from counseling youth and should instead find, or assist the young person in finding, appropriate expert assistance.

Article XI: CRIMINAL HISTORY BACKGROUND CHECKS

To ensure that District leaders are of the utmost moral fiber, a clear criminal history background check is required for any District Officer, District Secretary, Administrator, and committee Chair when not already required under Procedure 197 of Kiwanis International Policies and Procedures.

Successful completion of the background check (a "clear check") is based on verification that none of the convictions stated in Procedure 197 of Kiwanis International Policies and Procedures or similar thereto have been determined for that person.

All background checks shall be reviewed and evaluated by the District Secretary and determined to be clear or not clear. Other types of felony convictions will be reviewed on a case-by-case basis by the District Secretary or designee. Any conviction legally reversed or overturned by the proper authorities shall not be considered when evaluating the background check. The Governor shall be advised if a check indicates a problem or concern that requires further investigation or is determined to be "not clear." In either case, the District Secretary shall notify such person.

The District recognizes only the Kiwanis International background check process as valid. Background checks by the District will be conducted through Safe Hiring Solutions, or the current background check partner of Kiwanis International.

If a background check is determined to be "not clear" for any member already serving, such a member will be immediately removed from their position or not be allowed to participate in relevant youth events.

Anyone subject to action as a result of a background check shall have the right to appeal such action to the Board by delivering a written appeal to the District Secretary within thirty (30) days of the determination, stating the basis of the appeal. The Board shall have final authority on the matter and shall meet on the matter within ninety (90) days of the receipt of the written appeal.

An individual may receive a copy of his/her background check by requesting it in writing.

Background checks are valid for a period of two (2) years. All relevant persons who have not had a clear criminal history background check conducted and verified by the District within the past two (2) years at any given time are subject to a new check.

The member shall pay the cost of any background check conducted pursuant to this Policy.

ARTICLE XII: EVENTS

Section 1. Contracts

A. Force Majeure

Each event contract approved by the District Board should include a Force Majeure clause. It is recommended that the language be read,

"In the event that performance of this contract by Group becomes commercially impossible, impracticable, imprudent or inadvisable due to Act of God, action or inaction by governmental authority, civil unrest, protest, threats of war or terrorism, infectious disease, travel warnings, transportation disruption or other circumstances beyond the control of the Group, then the Group shall be relieved of its duties under this contract and all other parties waive any claims for such nonperformance and Hotel shall refund all deposits and/or prepayments made by the Group."

If a proposed contract includes a Force Majeure clause that differs from the recommended language, the District Board should consider any potential risks and alternative protective measures to mitigate risk before deciding whether to approve said contract.

ARTICLE XIII. CONFLICT OF INTEREST

Purpose: In order to protect its interests as a tax-exempt organization, the Ohio District of Kiwanis International, when contemplating a transaction or arrangement that might benefit the private financial interest of an interested person, shall exercise due diligence to assure no conflict of interest exists and/or it shall take appropriate disciplinary and corrective action if, upon investigation, a conflict of interest is determined to exist. In addition, the employment of relatives can cause various problems, including but not limited to charges of favoritism, conflicts of interest, family discord, and scheduling conflicts that may work to the disadvantage of both the agency and its employees. It is the goal of the District to avoid creating or maintaining circumstances in which the appearance or possibility of favoritism, conflicts, or management disruptions exists. The agency may employ relatives of current employees under the following circumstances:

- Relatives may not work under the supervision of the same manager;
- They may not create a supervisor/subordinate relationship with a relative;
- They may not supervise or evaluate a relative:
- The relationship will not create an adverse impact on work productivity or performance;
- The relationship may not create an actual or perceived conflict of interest;
- They may not audit or review in any manner the relative's work.
- They may not be employed if a relative serves on the District's Board or any Committee or Council which has authority to review or order personnel actions or wage and salary adjustments which could affect his/her job.

No personal employee relationship covered by this policy will be allowed to be maintained, regardless of the positions involved. This policy must be considered when hiring, promoting, or transferring any employee.

Definition of 'interested person': Any District officer or member of a committee with powers delegated to it by the district board who has a direct or indirect financial interest.

Definition of 'financial interest': Any of the following circumstances, directly or indirectly,

through business, investment, or family:

- 1. An ownership or investment interest in any entity with which the District has a transaction or arrangement;
- 2. A compensation arrangement with the District or with any entity or individual with which the District has a transaction or arrangement; or
- 3. A potential ownership or investment interest in, or compensation arrangement with, any entity or individual with which the District is negotiating a transaction or arrangement.
- 4. Compensation includes direct and indirect remuneration, as well as gifts or favors that are not insubstantial.
- 5. A financial interest is not necessarily a conflict of interest, unless determined to be so by the District Board.

Definition of "relative": A "relative" shall include the following relationships, which are established by blood, marriage, or legal action. Examples include the employee's: spouse, mother, father, son, daughter, sister, brother, mother-in-law, father-in-law, sister-in-law, brother-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, stepparent, stepchild, aunt, uncle, nephew, niece, grandparent, grandson, or cousin. The term also includes domestic partners (a person with whom the employee's life is interdependent and who shares a common residence) and a daughter or son of an employee's domestic partner.

Duty to Disclose: An interested person must disclose the existence of any actual or possible conflict of interest and be given the opportunity to disclose all material facts to the District Board. If the Board has reasonable cause to believe an interested person has failed to disclose an actual or possible conflict of interest, it shall inform the person and give him/her the opportunity to explain. If failure is determined, the Board shall take appropriate disciplinary and corrective action.

Determination: An interested person may make a presentation to the District Board about a possible conflict of interest. The Board may appoint an investigation committee composed of one or more disinterested persons to investigate the matter and report its findings and recommendations to the Board. The Board shall then decide, by majority vote of the disinterested persons, whether a conflict of interest exists, and, if so, whether to continue the arrangement or practice or to offer alternatives that would prevent the conflict. If a more advantageous transaction or arrangement is not reasonably possible under circumstances not producing a conflict of interest, the District Board shall determine whether the transaction or arrangement is in the District's best interest, whether it is fair and reasonable, and whether to enter into the transaction or arrangement.

Compensation Matters: A voting member of the District Board or any committee with power delegated by the Board who receives compensation, directly or indirectly, from the District for services is precluded from voting on matters pertaining to that member's compensation.

Records of Proceedings: The record of the District Board meeting and the investigation committee meeting (if any) should contain thorough and complete information on the proceedings, including all relevant facts, the content of the discussion, actions considered, and votes taken.

Annual Statements: Each interested person shall, before assuming district office or committee membership, sign a statement that affirms he/she understands and complies with the District policy on conflict of interest.

ARTICLE XIV: DISTRICT AWARDS

A. The following District awards will be presented annually:

a. Douglas R. K. Everett Award

This award is named in honor of Past Ohio Kiwanis District Governor Douglas Everett. It shall be presented annually to the District Chairperson who has exceeded all expectations in their role of District Chairperson. The Governor shall select the recipient based on their own criteria. The award shall be presented at the District Convention.

b. David B. Gillespie Award

This award is named in honor of Past Ohio Kiwanis District Governor David Gillespie. It shall be presented annually to the Lieutenant Governor who goes above and beyond in their support of Service Leadership Programs. The Governor shall select the recipient based on their own criteria. The award shall be presented at the District Convention.

c. Robert Hobart Service to Circle K Award

This award is named in honor of Past Ohio Circle K Governor and long-time Kiwanian Robert Hobart. It shall be presented at the discretion of the District Governor to the District Board member who goes above and beyond in their support of Circle K in the Ohio District. The Governor shall select the recipient based on their own criteria. The award shall be presented at the District Convention.

d. Outstanding Lieutenant Governor Award

This award shall be presented to the Lieutenant Governor who has exceeded all expectations in their role as Lieutenant Governor. The Governor shall select the recipient based on their own criteria. The award shall be presented at the District Convention.

e. Walter G. Sellers Leadership Award

This award is named in honor of Past Kiwanis International President Walter Sellers. It shall be presented at the discretion of the Governor when an Ohio Kiwanis Member has demonstrated outstanding leadership skills throughout the year and has been a true role model for others. This award may not be presented each year, as the Governor reserves the right not to present it. Criteria will be determined by the Governor. The award will be presented at the District Convention.

f. Kiwanis Club of the Year Award

This award shall be presented annually at the District Convention. This award will recognize the club that has served as a model club throughout the year. The Governor shall select the recipient based on their own criteria, but should give

emphasis to membership growth, Service Leadership Program support, and overall impact within their community.

g. Club President of the Year Award

This award shall be presented annually at the District Convention. This award will recognize the club president who has exceeded the expectations of the role. The Governor shall select the recipient based on their own criteria.

h. B. David Whiteman Award

This award is named in honor of long-time District Secretary B. David Whiteman. This award will recognize the club secretary who has excelled in their role as a club secretary. An application process will be used each year, with information posted on the District website as well as sent to all clubs. The award will be presented at the District Convention. Criteria will be updated annually.

i. Kiwanian of the Year Award

This award shall be given annually at the District Convention. This award shall recognize a member in good standing who exemplifies the ideals of Kiwanis. The individual should not be a club, division, district, or International officer at the time of the award, but may have served in one of these roles previously. The Governor shall set the criteria each year, but should give emphasis to club involvement, sponsorship of new Kiwanis members, involvement with SLPs, and attendance at Division and District Events.

j. Club Treasurer of the Year Award

This award shall be presented to the Club Treasurer who has exceeded all expectations in their role as Club Treasurer. Criteria shall include meeting the minimum standards for the role of Club Treasurer (attendance at club board meetings, submitting club budgets, annual audit/reviews, etc.). The club president shall certify criteria have been met. Additional consideration shall be given to attending District and international events and sponsoring new members. The selection committee will be composed of three past District Treasurers appointed by the Immediate past District Treasurer. The award shall be presented at the District Convention.

k. Ohio District of Kiwanis Hall of Fame Award

- i. The Ohio District of Kiwanis Hall of Fame Award was established by the 2009-2010 District Board and recognizes those Ohio Kiwanis members who have dedicated themselves to the betterment of Kiwanis.
- ii. The annual selections will be made by an Ohio District Kiwanis committee in November each year, at a time and place to be selected by the committee, with the honorees to be announced at the District's MidYear Education Day for that administrative year.
- iii. The Committee will be comprised of the Chairs of the Past Governors Committee and Past Treasurers Committee, with a third member to be the President of the class of Lt. Governors for the administrative year starting October 1.

iv. Nominations can be made annually by any Ohio Kiwanis member in good standing.

A maximum of four (4) Honorees can be inducted each year.

ARTICLE XV: DIVISION NAMES

Section 1. The district shall group clubs into divisions, which shall be identified by names, rather than numbers, chosen by each division, and recommended for approval to the District Board of Directors. The future boundaries of the divisions shall be defined by the process set forth in Article IV, Section 2 of these policies. Upon changes to the boundaries of a division, an affected division may choose and recommend a different name to the District Board of Directors for approval.

ARTICLE XVI: CHANGES TO POLICY MANUAL

Section 1. Changes to the Policy Manual, if in conformity with the Constitution and Bylaws of Kiwanis International and the Ohio District, may be adopted by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of the District Board of Directors voting at any duly authorized Board of Directors meeting. Proposed changes, to be submitted only by a member of the current Board of Directors, by the Finance and Structure Committee, by the Laws and Regulations Committee, or by the District Governor, will be received by the District Secretary at least sixty (60) days prior to the date of the Meeting. The District Secretary will send a copy of all proposed changes to each member of the Board of Directors not less than thirty (30) days prior to the date of the Meeting. Approved changes will become effective immediately.

End of Policy Manual